IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID.1 MINITE
JUL 14 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By ______Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID MASON,

Petitioner,

VS.

Case No.: 82,968

ARTURO SALINAS, JR.

Respondent

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal Second District, State of Florida In Case No. 92-04118

> Michael R.N. McDonnell Fla. Bar No. 124032 McDonnell Law Offices Suite 304 at The Commons 720 Goodlette Road North Naples, Florida 33940 (813) 434-7711 Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The Defendant/Petitioner, DAVID MASON will be referred to herein as Mason.

The Plaintiff/Respondent, ARTURO SALINAS will be referred to as Salinas.

References to the Appendix shall be by the letter "A" together with the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Salinas filed suit against Mason for damages, in August of 1992 alleging that he was sexually abused by Mason while a student at Gulfview Middle School between 1974 and 1976. (A 1). At the time of the alleged abuse, Florida Statutes did not provide a specific limitations period for this cause of action. The applicable statute of limitation was found in § 95.11(3)(o) & (p), Florida Statutes, which provided a four year statute of limitations for battery, intentional torts or for "...any action not specifically provided for in these statutes."

Mason moved to dismiss the Complaint on the ground that the four year statute of limitations precluded Salinas' cause of action. The trial court granted Mason's motion with prejudice on October 26, 1992. (A 2).

Salinas appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal alleging that Chapter 92-102, Laws of 1992, Twelfth Legislature, which amended §95.11, revived his cause of action, twelve years after its preclusion by the existing statute of limitations. In support of this position Salinas argued that the language in section 2 of the amended statute manifested an intent by the legislature to revive all sexual abuse actions which were barred by the previous statute.

The Second District Court of Appeal filed its decision on October 15, 1993, reversing the order of the Circuit Court. (A 3). The appellate court ruled that the 1992 amendment to §95.11 "revived for a four-year period previously time-barred causes of action based on intentional abuse or incest."

Thereafter Mason filed his Notice of Invoking the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida on the grounds that the Second District's decision expresslyy and directly conflicts with another district court of appeal and the supreme court on the same question of law and expressly validates an esisting state statute. (A 4). Mason and Salinas filed their jurisdictional briefs, and on May 25, 1994, this Court accepted jurisdiction to review the Second District's decision. (A 5).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appellate court erred in its determination that the 1992 amendment to §95.11 "revived for a four year period previously time-barred causes of action based on intentional abuse or incest." Clearly this reasoning is contrary to the plain meaning and intent of the legislature in drafting this amendment. Moreover the Supreme Court of Florida has previously ruled although the legislature may permissibly increase a period of limitations, and make it applicable to an existing cause of action, it may not permissibly revive a cause of action that was extinguished by a pre-existing statute of limitations. Salinas' cause of action was extinguished some 12 years before the new statute, and therefore may not now be revived.

I. ARGUMENT

FLORIDA LAW PROHIBITS REVIVAL OF CLAIMS PREVIOUSLY BARRED BY A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

From the face of Salinas' complaint, the latest time a cause of action might have accrued in his favor would have been December 31, 1976, the last day of the last year alleged as the time of the sexual advances. At that point in time, Florida Statutes did not provide a specific limitations period for the cause of action alleged. Rather, the only possible statutory limitations that would apply was to be found in §§95.11(3)(o) and (p), Florida Statutes, which provided a four year statute of limitations for battery, intentional tort or for "...any action not specifically provided for in these statutes." Applying this limitation period to the present case demonstrates that the cause of action was extinguished by operation of this statute of limitations on December 31, 1980.

In 1992, twelve years after Salinas' cause of action was precluded, §95.11 of the Florida Statutes was amended. See Chapter 92-102, Laws of 1992, Twelfth Legislature. Chapter 92-102 created a new statute of limitations period for sexual abuse cases. Specifically, section one provides that an action founded on abuse may be commenced within 7 years of the age of majority, within 4 years after the injured person leaves the dependency of the abuser, or within 4 years from the time of discovery of the injury and its causal relationship to the abuse, whichever is later.

The Second District Court of Appeal in the present case ruled that as a result of this amendment all previously barred causes of actions are now revived and therefore Salinas' cause of action can now be brought. This is not however clear from the language of this amendment, nor is there any evidence that this was the intent of the

legislature in drafting this amendment. More importantly, even if it was the intent of the legislature to retroactively revive previously time barred causes of action, such a result is clearly impermissible.

Florida law is clear that where an action is time barred by a prior statute, a subsequent amendment extending the time does not revive the extinguished action.

Wiley v. Roof, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S334 (Fla. June 24, 1994). In Wiley v. Roof this Court specifically held that chapter 92-102, section 2, if applied retroactively would deprive a defendant of a constitutionally protected property interest and would be violative of article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution. As a result, the court determined that the provision was invalid as to previously barred actions. Id. The court went on to say that retroactively applying a new statute of limitations robs both the plaintiff and defendant of the reliability and predictability of the law.

The immunity from suit which arises by operation of the statute of limitations is as valuable a right as the right to bring the suit itself.... Statutes of limitation are not only calculated for the repose and peace of society, but to provide against the evils that arise from loss of evidence and the failing memory of witnesses....Once the defense of the statute of limitations has accrued, it is protected as a property interest just as the plaintiff's right to commence an action is a valid and protected property interest. *Id*.

Although it is true that the legislature has the power to increase a prescribed period of limitation, it may do so only if the "change in the law is effective before the cause of action is extinguished by the force of a pre-existing statute." Walter Denson & Son v. Nelson, 88 So.2d 120, 121 (Fla 1956)(emphasis added). A party has the "right to have the statute of limitations period become vested once it has completely run and

barred [an] action." Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 612 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Fla. 1992), (quoting Mazda Motors of America, Inc. v. S.C. Henderson & Sons, Inc., 3634 So.2d 107, 108 (Fla 1 DCA 1978), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1979).

In the present case the Salinas' claim was barred, at the very least, twelve (12) years prior to the effective date of the amendment. Mason had a "right to have the statute of limitation period become vested" at that time. The legislature's power to increase the statute of limitations for that claim was therefore extinguished at that time. Accordingly, even if the legislature wished to revive otherwise extinguished causes of action, such legislation would be impermissible under the cited authorities.

If the decision of the court of appeal is left standing, the potential for an inordinate number of claims which were previously extinguished by the existing statute of limitations will now be revived. In each of those cases, the passage of time, stale evidence, and unavailable witnesses will work to deprive Mason of an opportunity to fairly present a defense and will be contrary to the law as outlined by this court previously in *Wiley v. Roof.* The Second District's decision in the present should therefore be overturned.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, it is clear that the Second District Court of Appeals erred in overturning the trial court's dismissal of the present case. That decision should therefore now be overturned.