HOOW

FILED
SID.I MARITE
AUG 2 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID MASON,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,968

ARTURO SALINAS, JR.

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal Second District, State of Florida
In Case No. 92-04118

J. ARBY VAN SLYKE, P. A. Post Office Box 13244 216 East Government Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 (904) 438-0440

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Respondent, ARTURO SALINAS, JR., will be referred to as Respondent. The Petitioner, DAVID MASON, will be referred to as Petitioner.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court, relying upon the dissenting opinion in a 1885 U.S. Supreme Court decision, decided only one (1) month ago that the Florida Constitution, unlike that of the United States, provides a child molester a "property" right to be free from a victim's claim once the Statute of Limitations has expired.

This recent decision places, in effect, the child abuser's peace of mind above the victim's attempt to achieve some, and if the Statute of Limitations had expired, would appear to bar Respondent's claim.

However as the statute had not been construed at the time Respondent filed his claim, he should be allowed to amend his Complaint to bring it within the existing Statute of Limitations pursuant to the delayed discovery rule.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. <u>IN FLORIDA, THE LEGISLATURE IS POWERLESS TO REVIVE</u> <u>CLAIMS ONCE BARRED BY A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.</u>

The United States Supreme Court has stated:

[Statute of Limitations] represents a public policy about the privilege to litigate... [T]he history of pleas of limitations shows them to be good only by legislative grace and to be subject to a relatively large degree of legislative control.

Chase Securities Corp. v. Donaldson, 325 U.S. 304,314 (1945); 65 S.Ct 1137, 1142 (1945). See Osmundsen v. Todd Pacific Shipyard, 755 F.2d 730 (9th Cir. 1985).

"It is within the power of a legislature to enact a new limitation rule so as to revive claims already barred under a prior rule."

U. S. v. Hunter, 700 F.Supp. 26,27 (M.D. Fla. 1988).

The general rule is that Statute of Limitations go to matters of remedy only. <u>Davis v. Valley Distributing Co.</u>, 522 F.2d 827,830 (9th Cir. 1975)(n 7). To be sure, one may have the Statute of Limitations' protection while it exists but such protection does not involve substantive or fundamental rights and its protection may be removed. <u>Chase Securities Corp. v. Donaldson</u>, 325 U.S. 304,324 (1945); 65 S.Ct. 1137,1142 (1945).

This is not a case where Petitioner's conduct would have been different if the present rule had been known and the change foreseen. He can not say that he molested Respondent in reliance upon some former statute of limitations. Chase Securities at 316,1143. Nor is it likely that Petitioner can say any action was

undertaken by him in the assumption that the old statute would be continued. Id.

...[M]ultitudes of cases have recognized the power of the Legislature to call a liability into being where there was none before, if the circumstances were such as to appeal with some strength to the prevailing views of justice, and if the obstacle in the way of the creation seemed small. Chase Securities at 315,1143 (citing Danforth v. Groton Water Co., 178 Mass. 472,476; 59 N.E. 1033).

Nevertheless, this Court has only recently found some sort of "property" right in our Constitution that does not exist in the U. S. Constitution. <u>Wiley v. Roof</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S344 (Fla. June 24, 1994).

If it were not for the delayed discovery rule, this holding would apparently bar Respondent's claim and thereby reward those molesters who were either clever or lucky enough to so thoroughly traumatize their young prey that the statute of limitations ran before the victims even knew of the claim.

Fortunately, application of the delayed discovery rule in cases such as this will prevent such a perversion of the legal system.

# II. <u>APPLICATION OF THE DELAYED DISCOVERY RULE WOULD</u> <u>ALLOW RESPONDENT TO PURSUE HIS CLAIM.</u>

Under Florida's discovery rule, a cause of action does not accrue, and the statute of limitations begin to run until the complainant knew or should have known of the act constituting the invasion of his or her legal rights. Celotex Corp. v. Meehan, 523 So.2d 141,145 (Fla. 1988).

Thus, even absent the expanded statute of limitations, Appellant should be allowed to amend to allege that due to post traumatic stress disorder or other repression mechanisms, his ignorance is blameless and therefore his case is encompassed by the delayed discovery rule as so ably advocated by Judge Jorgenson in <u>Lindabury v. Lindabury</u>, 552 So.2d 1117,1118 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) (dissenting opinion). See also <u>Senfeld v. Bank of Nova Scotia Trust Co.</u>, 450 So.2d 1157,1162-3 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984).

Surely, no one could contend that traumatized victims of child molestation are to blame for subconsciously repressing awareness of the horrible acts forced upon them. If the evidence establishes that repression had occurred in the past and the claimant brings the action within four (4) years from the time he or she knew or should have known of the invasion of his or her legal rights, i.e. memories of the abuse rise to consciousness, the Statute of Limitations would be no bar to a claim.

Respondent deserves the chance to prove that he is a blameless victim of child abuse. As he initially based his allegations upon a statute that clearly gave him the right to

bring the action and which has only recently been ruled unconstitutional, he should be allowed to amend the Complaint to include allegations concerning the repression and the time at which he became aware of the traumatizing events for the first time. Sedener v. Jones, 455 So.2d. 643 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

### CONCLUSION

If this honorable Court declines to reconsider the constitutionality of §95.11(7), Fla. Stat. (1993), the Court should embrace the delayed discovery rule and Respondent should be allowed to amend his Complaint to meet the requirements of that rule of discovery.

J. ARBY VAN SLYKE, P. A.